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PRIVILEGES OF THE HOUSE—RE-
QUEST FOR REPORT FROM COM-
MITTEE ON STANDARDS OF OF-

FICIAL CONDUCT REGARDING
COMPLAINTS AGAINST SPEAKER
Mr. JOHNSTON of Florida. Mr.

Speaker, pursuant to clause 2(a)(1) of
rule IX, | hereby give notice of my in-
tention to offer a resolution, on behalf
of myself and the gentleman from Flor-
ida [Mr. PETERSON], which raises a
question of the privileges of the House.

The form of the resolution is as fol-
lows:

Whereas the Committee on Standards of
Official Conduct is currently considering
several ethics complaints against Speaker
Newt Gingrich;

Whereas the Committee has traditionally
handled such cases by appointing an inde-
pendent, non-partisan, outside counsel—a
procedure which has been adopted in every
major ethics case since the Committee was
established;

Whereas—although complaints against
Speaker Gingrich have been under consider-
ation for more than 14 months—the Commit-
tee has failed to appoint an outside counsel;

Whereas the Committee has also deviated
from other long-standing precedents and
rules of procedure; including its failure to
adopt a Resolution of Preliminary Inquiry
before calling third-party witnesses and re-
ceiving sworn testimony;

Whereas these procedural irregularities—
and the unusual delay in the appointment of
an independent, outside counsel—have led to
widespread concern that the Committee is
making special exceptions for the Speaker of
the House;

Whereas the integrity of the House depends
on the confidence of the American people in
the fairness and impartiality of the Commit-
tee on Standards of Official Conduct.

Therefore be it resolved that;

The Chairman and Ranking Member of the
Committee on Standards of Official Conduct
should report to the House, no later than De-
cember 12, 1995, concerning:

(1) The status of the Committee’s inves-
tigation of the complaints against Speaker
Gingrich;

(2) the Committee’s disposition with regard
to the appointment of a non-partisan outside
counsel and the scope of the counsel’s inves-
tigation;

(3) a timetable for Committee action on
the complaints.
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The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr.
CHRYSLER). Under rule IX, a resolution
offered from the floor by a Member
other than the majority leader or the
minority leader as a question of the
privileges of the House has immediate
precedence only at a time or place de-
signed by the Speaker in the legisla-
tive schedule within 2 legislative days
of its being properly noticed. The Chair
will announce the Chair’s designation
at a later time.

The Chair’'s determination as to
whether the resolution constitutes a
question of privilege will be made at
the time designated by the Chair for
consideration of the resolution.

COMMUNICATION FROM THE HON.
DANA ROHRABACHER, MEMBER
OF CONGRESS
The SPEAKER pro tempore laid be-

fore the House the following commu-
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nication from the Hon. DANA
ROHRABACHER, Member of Congress:

CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES,
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
November 15, 1995.
Hon. NEWT GINGRICH,
Speaker, U.S. House of Representatives,
Washington, DC.

DEAR MR. SPEAKER. This is to formally no-
tify you, pursuant to Rule L (50) of the rules
of the House of Representatives that three
staff persons in my Huntington Beach, Cali-
fornia District Office—Cindy Hoffman, Law-
rence Jones and Kathleen Hollingsworth—
have been served with subpoenas issued by
the Municipal Court of Orange County, Cali-
fornia, in the matter of the People of the
State of California v. Michael James Perry.

After consultation with the Office of Gen-
eral Counsel, | have determined that compli-
ance with the subpoenas is consistent with
the precedents and privileges of the House.

Sincerely,
DANA ROHRABACHER,
Member of Congress.

SPECIAL ORDERS

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under
the Speaker’s announced policy of May
12, 1995, and under a previous order of
the House, the following Members will
be recognized for 5 minutes each.

RECOGNITION OF VOLUNTEER
TOUR GUIDES AT BULL SHOALS
DAM

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under a
previous order of the House, the gen-
tleman from Arkansas [Mr. HUTCHIN-
SON] is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. HUTCHINSON. Mr. Speaker, far
too often the work of the men and
women who choose to volunteer their
time and talent goes unnoticed. These
individuals, most of whom are busy
with families, full-time jobs, and daily
tasks, are rarely recognized for the in-
valuable service which they provide to
their communities.

Mr. Speaker, | rise today to pay trib-
ute to seven such individuals from my
own congressional district of northwest
Arkansas, who are better known to the
folks back home as ‘““The Fabulous
Seven.”” All local residents of Lakeview
and Bull Shoals, AR, Mr. Pete Ehmen,
Ms. Shirley Spitzer, Mr. Bob Olmo, Mr.
Curt Schlueter, Mr. Bob Koenig, Mr.
Carl Wilhelm, and Mr. Neil Underhill
took precious time out of their al-
ready-busy summers to conduct guided
tours of Bull Shoals Dam, when Fed-
eral budget constraints threatened to
end public tours of the local Corps of
Engineers dam.

Mr. Speaker, I commend these indi-
viduals for coming forth with such a
brilliant solution and putting it into
action! At a time when Federal
downsizing is necessary, and Federal
funds are very limited, citizen volun-
teers are indispensable in keeping the
wheels turning in our communities.
Throughout the entire summer, over
7,000 tourists had the opportunity to
see things, which otherwise would not
have been possible, without this ‘“‘Fab-
ulous Gang of Seven.”
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According to Mr. Bill Self, Chief of
the Corps of Engineers’ hydropower fa-
cility in Mountain Home, it was quite
routine to hear tourists exclaim, ““This
was the best tour we have ever been
on!” after their tour of the dam. Mr.
Self is particularly proud that his of-
fice did not receive one complaint all
summer regarding the tours.

Mr. Speaker, while | am recognizing
these individuals today on the floor of
the U.S. House of Representatives, |
would also like to point out that the
corps formally honored ‘“The Fabulous
Seven’’ this fall with a brunch, and pre-
sented them with certificates of appre-
ciation for their invaluable contribu-
tions throughout the summer. In the
very words of Mr. Self, ““The volunteers
did a fabulous job this year!”’

To ““The Fabulous Seven,”” thank you
for your dedication and hard work for
Bull Shoals Dam, for northwest Arkan-
sas, and for our great State of Arkan-
sas.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under a
previous order of the House, the gentle-
woman from North Carolina [Mrs.
CLAYTON] is recognized for 5 minutes.

[Mrs. CLAYTON addressed the House.
Her remarks will appear hereafter in
the Extensions of Remarks.]

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under a
previous order of the House, the gen-
tleman from Colorado [Mr. MCINNIS] is
recognized for 5 minutes.

[Mr. MCINNIS addressed the House.
His remarks will appear hereafter in
the Extensions of Remarks.]

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under a
previous order of the House, the gentle-
woman from New York [Mrs. MALONEY]
is recognized for 5 minutes.

[Mrs. MALONEY addressed the
House. Her remarks will appear here-
after in the Extensions of Remarks.]

CLINTON FOREIGN POLICY

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Under a
previous order of the House, the gen-
tleman from Indiana [Mr. BURTON] is
recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. BURTON of Indiana. Mr. Speak-
er, | would like to talk tonight about
the Clinton foreign policy. The Presi-
dent has been asking us over the past
couple of days to support him in send-
ing troops to Bosnia. Before we start
doing that, we ought to look at the
record of the administration in dealing
with foreign policy issues. So let us
start with Haiti.

Mr. Aristide down there said he was
going to become a true lover of democ-
racy. He said that he was going to pri-
vatize a lot of the Government agen-
cies down there, Government func-
tions. He said he was going to have free
and fair elections and step down as
President. We found out just recently
that he is not going along with the pri-
vatization program that he promised.
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There have been a lot of Killings re-
cently, and he has used some very
harsh rhetoric when speaking to
crowds, which has led to additional
Killings. He said that he may not step
down as President, may try to keep an
extra 3 years. We have been putting
pressure on him, and now it appears as
though he will put in a puppet to re-
place them to keep control for the next
6 years and, during this time that we
have been giving him hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars and keeping American
troops down there, he has spent $1.8
million of American taxpayers’ money
to lobby the Congress of the United
States to get more money. He is using
our taxpayers’ dollars to get more
money.

This has been a total failure by the
administration. It has not completely
manifested itself yet, but it is getting
there. Things are getting out of con-
trol. Mr. Aristide has paid one firm
$48,000 a month. Ira Kurzban, a Miami
attorney who has worked for Castro,
who has worked for the Communist
Sandinistas, who has worked for Mr.
Aristide, in fact, his wife, Kurzban’s
wife, was so enamored with Castro, the
Communist dictator in Cuba, she
kissed him. And this is the man who is
representing him in getting $48,000 of
American taxpayers’ money to rep-
resent him to lobby Congress.

There is another firm getting $50,000
a month. Another getting $41,000 a
month. Another getting $12,500 a
month. Another getting $10,000, an-
other getting $5,000. All United States
taxpayer money to support a failed pol-
icy in Haiti.

Then we talk about Somalia. In So-
malia the President went over there
and said he was going to nation build,
to bring democracy to Somalia. He said
he was going to bring the horrible Mr.
Aideed, the tribal leader over there, to
justice. Mr. Aideed used his forces to
Kill 18 American military people. What
happened? A year later, after spending
hundreds of millions of dollars to sta-
bilize the situation in Somalia, we
pulled out. Aideed is still there. An-
other foreign policy failure. And it cost
the taxpayers hundreds of millions of
dollars and a lot of American lives for
nothing.

Now the President says he wants to
send 25,000 troops into Bosnia to nation
build, to stabilize the situation, to
bring about peace and democracy there
in a country that has a history of hun-
dreds of years of war between religious
factions and various ethnic groups.

Our troops are going to be put right
smack-dab in the middle. Sixty thou-
sand of the Serbian, Bosnian Serbs
around Sarajevo have said they do not
like the agreement, they are not going
to go along with the agreement, and
they have guns and weapons. And our
troops are going to be there to main-
tain the peace. This is a recipe for dis-
aster, another in a series of failed for-
eign policy programs pushed by the
Clinton administration.

CONGRESSIONAL RECORD —HOUSE

Do you know how many land mines
there are in Bosnia? Six million. Six
million. It is almost like you could not
walk anyplace without stepping on a
land mine. Do you know something
even worse than that? We only have a
map showing where between 100,000 and
1 million of them are. That means at
least 5 million land mines are out there
that we do not know about.

Our troops are going to be put there
in between warring factions who hate
each other, and we are supposed to
keep the peace. If they break across
the 2%z-mile-wide line that we are going
to be patrolling, then we have, we will
be able to defend ours, shoot to Kill.
But when we do that, there is going to
be retaliation. There is going to be a
lot of Americans killed.

It is unfortunate that the President,
time after time after time has had
failed foreign policy, and we in the
Congress of the United States have
been unable to do anything about it. As
Commander in Chief, he does not listen
to the will of the Congress of the Unit-
ed States. We did not want him to send
troops into Haiti, but he did it anyhow.
We did not want him to nation build in
Somalia, but he did it anyhow. We do
not want him, by a vote of over 300 to
less than 125, we did not want him to
send troops into Bosnia, but he has said
last night on American TV we are
going to do it anyhow.
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To heck with what the people in the
Congress of the United States want; to
heck with what the American people
want. So | just like to say to my col-
leagues we ought to send the President
a very strong message, try to stop him
any way we can from sending troops
over there. Once they get there, we
have to support them because they are
our young men and women. We cannot
leave them in harm’s way without
proper military equipment.

But the President bears the respon-
sibility. He said last night he bears the
full responsibility. You bet he does.

SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT

Mr. WHITE submitted the following
conference report and statement on the
bill (H.R. 1058) to reform Federal secu-
rities litigation, and for other pur-
poses:

CONFERENCE REPORT (H. REPT. 104-369)

The committee of conference on the dis-
agreeing votes of the two Houses on the
amendments of the Senate to the bill (H.R.
1058), to reform Federal securities litigation,
and for other purposes, having met, after full
and free conference, have agreed to rec-
ommend and do recommend to their respec-
tive Houses as follows:

That the House recede from its disagree-
ment to the amendment of the Senate to the
text of the bill and agree to the same with an
amendment as follows:

In lieu of the matter proposed to be in-
serted by the Senate amendment, insert the
following:

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE; TABLE OF CONTENTS.

(a) SHORT TITLE.—This Act may be cited as
the “‘Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995,
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(b) TABLE OF CONTENTS.—The table of con-
tents for this Act is as follows:

Sec. 1. Short title; table of contents.

TITLE I—REDUCTION OF ABUSIVE
LITIGATION

Private securities litigation reform.

Safe harbor for forward-looking state-
ments.

Elimination of certain abusive prac-
tices.

Authority of Commission to prosecute
aiding and abetting.

Loss causation.

Study and report on protections for
senior citizens and qualified re-
tirement plans.

Amendment to Racketeer Influenced
and Corrupt Organizations Act.

Sec. 108. Applicability.

TITLE II—REDUCTION OF COERCIVE

SETTLEMENTS

Sec. 201. Proportionate liability.

Sec. 203. Applicability.

Sec. 204. Rule of construction.

TITLE 11I—AUDITOR DISCLOSURE
CORPORATE FRAUD

Sec. 301. Fraud detection and disclosure.

TITLE I—REDUCTION OF ABUSIVE
LITIGATION
SEC. 101. PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION RE-
FORM.

(a) SECURITIES ACT OF 1933.—Title | of the Se-
curities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.) is
amended by adding at the end the following
new section:

“SEC. 27. PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION.

““(a) PRIVATE CLASS ACTIONS.—

““(1) IN GENERAL.—The provisions of this sub-
section shall apply to each private action aris-
ing under this title that is brought as a plaintiff
class action pursuant to the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.

““(2) CERTIFICATION FILED WITH COMPLAINT.—

“(A) IN GENERAL.—Each plaintiff seeking to
serve as a representative party on behalf of a
class shall provide a sworn certification, which
shall be personally signed by such plaintiff and
filed with the complaint, that—

““(i) states that the plaintiff has reviewed the
complaint and authorized its filing;

(i) states that the plaintiff did not purchase

the security that is the subject of the complaint
at the direction of plaintiff’s counsel or in order
to participate in any private action arising
under this title;
(iii) states that the plaintiff is willing to
serve as a representative party on behalf of a
class, including providing testimony at deposi-
tion and trial, if necessary;

“‘(iv) sets forth all of the transactions of the
plaintiff in the security that is the subject of the
complaint during the class period specified in
the complaint;

“(v) identifies any other action under this
title, filed during the 3-year period preceding
the date on which the certification is signed by
the plaintiff, in which the plaintiff has sought
to serve, or served, as a representative party on
behalf of a class; and

“(vi) states that the plaintiff will not accept
any payment for serving as a representative
party on behalf of a class beyond the plaintiff’s
pro rata share of any recovery, except as or-
dered or approved by the court in accordance
with paragraph (4).

““(B) NONWAIVER OF ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVI-
LEGE.—The certification filed pursuant to sub-
paragraph (A) shall not be construed to be a
waiver of the attorney-client privilege.

““(3) APPOINTMENT OF LEAD PLAINTIFF.—

““(A) EARLY NOTICE TO CLASS MEMBERS.—

““(i) IN GENERAL.—Not later than 20 days after
the date on which the complaint is filed, the
plaintiff or plaintiffs shall cause to be pub-
lished, in a widely circulated national business-
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105.
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Sec. 107.

OF



November 28, 1995

oriented publication or wire service, a notice ad-
vising members of the purported plaintiff class—

“(1) of the pendency of the action, the claims
asserted therein, and the purported class period;
and

“(I1) that, not later than 60 days after the
date on which the notice is published, any mem-
ber of the purported class may move the court to
serve as lead plaintiff of the purported class.

“(if) MULTIPLE ACTIONS.—If more than one
action on behalf of a class asserting substan-
tially the same claim or claims arising under
this title is filed, only the plaintiff or plaintiffs
in the first filed action shall be required to cause
notice to be published in accordance with clause
().
““(iii) ADDITIONAL NOTICES MAY BE REQUIRED
UNDER FEDERAL RULES.—Notice required under
clause (i) shall be in addition to any notice re-
quired pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure.

*“(B) APPOINTMENT OF LEAD PLAINTIFF.—

““(i) IN GENERAL.—Not later than 90 days after
the date on which a notice is published under
subparagraph (A)(i), the court shall consider
any motion made by a purported class member
in response to the notice, including any motion
by a class member who is not individually
named as a plaintiff in the complaint or com-
plaints, and shall appoint as lead plaintiff the
member or members of the purported plaintiff
class that the court determines to be most capa-
ble of adequately representing the interests of
class members (hereafter in this paragraph re-
ferred to as the ‘most adequate plaintiff’) in ac-
cordance with this subparagraph.

(i) CONSOLIDATED ACTIONS.—If more than
one action on behalf of a class asserting sub-
stantially the same claim or claims arising under
this title has been filed, and any party has
sought to consolidate those actions for pretrial
purposes or for trial, the court shall not make
the determination required by clause (i) until
after the decision on the motion to consolidate is
rendered. As soon as practicable after such deci-
sion is rendered, the court shall appoint the
most adequate plaintiff as lead plaintiff for the
consolidated actions in accordance with this
subparagraph.

“‘(iii) REBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION.—

“(1) IN GENERAL.—Subject to subclause (I1),
for purposes of clause (i), the court shall adopt
a presumption that the most adequate plaintiff
in any private action arising under this title is
the person or group of persons that—

““(aa) has either filed the complaint or made a
motion in response to a notice under subpara-
graph (A)(i);

“(bb) in the determination of the court, has
the largest financial interest in the relief sought
by the class; and

““(cc) otherwise satisfies the requirements of
Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

“(11) REBUTTAL EVIDENCE.—The presumption
described in subclause (I) may be rebutted only
upon proof by a member of the purported plain-
tiff class that the presumptively most adequate
plaintiff—

““(aa) will not fairly and adequately protect
the interests of the class; or

“‘(bb) is subject to unique defenses that render
such plaintiff incapable of adequately rep-
resenting the class.

““(iv) DISCOVERY.—For purposes of this sub-
paragraph, discovery relating to whether a
member or members of the purported plaintiff
class is the most adequate plaintiff may be con-
ducted by a plaintiff only if the plaintiff first
demonstrates a reasonable basis for a finding
that the presumptively most adequate plaintiff
is incapable of adequately representing the
class.

““(v) SELECTION OF LEAD COUNSEL.—The most
adequate plaintiff shall, subject to the approval
of the court, select and retain counsel to rep-
resent the class.

““(vi) RESTRICTIONS ON PROFESSIONAL PLAIN-
TIFFS.—Except as the court may otherwise per-
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mit, consistent with the purposes of this section,
a person may be a lead plaintiff, or an officer,
director, or fiduciary of a lead plaintiff, in no
more than 5 securities class actions brought as
plaintiff class actions pursuant to the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure during any 3-year pe-
riod.

‘“(4) RECOVERY BY PLAINTIFFS.—The share of
any final judgment or of any settlement that is
awarded to a representative party serving on be-
half of a class shall be equal, on a per share
basis, to the portion of the final judgment or set-
tlement awarded to all other members of the
class. Nothing in this paragraph shall be con-
strued to limit the award of reasonable costs
and expenses (including lost wages) directly re-
lating to the representation of the class to any
representative party serving on behalf of the
class.

““(5) RESTRICTIONS ON SETTLEMENTS UNDER
SEAL.—The terms and provisions of any settle-
ment agreement of a class action shall not be
filed under seal, except that on motion of any
party to the settlement, the court may order fil-
ing under seal for those portions of a settlement
agreement as to which good cause is shown for
such filing under seal. For purposes of this
paragraph, good cause shall exist only if publi-
cation of a term or provision of a settlement
agreement would cause direct and substantial
harm to any party.

‘“(6) RESTRICTIONS ON PAYMENT OF ATTOR-
NEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES.—Total attorneys’ fees
and expenses awarded by the court to counsel
for the plaintiff class shall not exceed a reason-
able percentage of the amount of any damages
and prejudgment interest actually paid to the
class.

““(7) DISCLOSURE OF SETTLEMENT TERMS TO
CLASS MEMBERS.—AnNy proposed or final settle-
ment agreement that is published or otherwise
disseminated to the class shall include each of
the following statements, along with a cover
page summarizing the information contained in
such statements:

““(A) STATEMENT OF PLAINTIFF RECOVERY.—
The amount of the settlement proposed to be dis-
tributed to the parties to the action, determined
in the aggregate and on an average per share
basis.

““(B) STATEMENT OF POTENTIAL OUTCOME OF
CASE.—

(i) AGREEMENT ON AMOUNT OF DAMAGES.—If
the settling parties agree on the average amount
of damages per share that would be recoverable
if the plaintiff prevailed on each claim alleged
under this title, a statement concerning the av-
erage amount of such potential damages per
share.

““(ii) DISAGREEMENT ON AMOUNT OF DAM-
AGES.—If the parties do not agree on the aver-
age amount of damages per share that would be
recoverable if the plaintiff prevailed on each
claim alleged under this title, a statement from
each settling party concerning the issue or is-
sues on which the parties disagree.

““(iii) INADMISSIBILITY FOR CERTAIN PUR-
POSES.—A statement made in accordance with
clause (i) or (ii) concerning the amount of dam-
ages shall not be admissible in any Federal or
State judicial action or administrative proceed-
ing, other than an action or proceeding arising
out of such statement.

““(C) STATEMENT OF ATTORNEYS' FEES OR
COSTS SOUGHT.—If any of the settling parties or
their counsel intend to apply to the court for an
award of attorneys’ fees or costs from any fund
established as part of the settlement, a state-
ment indicating which parties or counsel intend
to make such an application, the amount of fees
and costs that will be sought (including the
amount of such fees and costs determined on an
average per share basis), and a brief expla-
nation supporting the fees and costs sought.

‘(D) IDENTIFICATION OF LAWYERS’ REPRESENT-
ATIVES.—The name, telephone number, and ad-
dress of one or more representatives of counsel
for the plaintiff class who will be reasonably
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available to answer questions from class mem-
bers concerning any matter contained in any
notice of settlement published or otherwise dis-
seminated to the class.

“(E) REASONS FOR SETTLEMENT.—A brief
statement explaining the reasons why the par-
ties are proposing the settlement.

““(F) OTHER INFORMATION.—Such other infor-
mation as may be required by the court.

““(8) ATTORNEY CONFLICT OF INTEREST.—If a
plaintiff class is represented by an attorney who
directly owns or otherwise has a beneficial in-
terest in the securities that are the subject of the
litigation, the court shall make a determination
of whether such ownership or other interest
constitutes a conflict of interest sufficient to dis-
qualify the attorney from representing the
plaintiff class.

“(b) STAY OF DISCOVERY; PRESERVATION OF
EVIDENCE.—

‘(1) IN GENERAL.—INn any private action aris-
ing under this title, all discovery and other pro-
ceedings shall be stayed during the pendency of
any motion to dismiss, unless the court finds,
upon the motion of any party, that particular-
ized discovery is necessary to preserve evidence
or to prevent undue prejudice to that party.

*“(2) PRESERVATION OF EVIDENCE.—During the
pendency of any stay of discovery pursuant to
this subsection, unless otherwise ordered by the
court, any party to the action with actual no-
tice of the allegations contained in the com-
plaint shall treat all documents, data compila-
tions (including electronically recorded or stored
data), and tangible objects that are in the cus-
tody or control of such person and that are rel-
evant to the allegations, as if they were the sub-
ject of a continuing request for production of
documents from an opposing party under the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

““(3) SANCTION FOR WILLFUL VIOLATION.—A
party aggrieved by the willful failure of an op-
posing party to comply with paragraph (2) may
apply to the court for an order awarding appro-
priate sanctions.

““(c) SANCTIONS FOR ABUSIVE LITIGATION.—

““(1) MANDATORY REVIEW BY COURT.—In any
private action arising under this title, upon
final adjudication of the action, the court shall
include in the record specific findings regarding
compliance by each party and each attorney
representing any party with each requirement of
Rule 11(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure as to any complaint, responsive pleading,
or dispositive motion.

““(2) MANDATORY SANCTIONS.—If the court
makes a finding under paragraph (1) that a
party or attorney violated any requirement of
Rule 11(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure as to any complaint, responsive pleading,
or dispositive motion, the court shall impose
sanctions on such party or attorney in accord-
ance with Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. Prior to making a finding that any
party or attorney has violated Rule 11 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the court shall
give such party or attorney notice and an op-
portunity to respond.

““(3) PRESUMPTION IN FAVOR OF ATTORNEYS’
FEES AND COSTS.—

“(A) IN GENERAL.—Subject to subparagraphs
(B) and (C), for purposes of paragraph (2), the
court shall adopt a presumption that the appro-
priate sanction—

‘(i) for failure of any responsive pleading or
dispositive motion to comply with any require-
ment of Rule 11(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure is an award to the opposing party of
the reasonable attorneys’ fees and other ex-
penses incurred as a direct result of the viola-
tion; and

““(ii) for substantial failure of any complaint
to comply with any requirement of Rule 11(b) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is an
award to the opposing party of the reasonable
attorneys’ fees and other expenses incurred in
the action.

““(B) REBUTTAL EVIDENCE.—The presumption
described in subparagraph (A) may be rebutted
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only upon proof by the party or attorney
against whom sanctions are to be imposed
that—

““(i) the award of attorneys’ fees and other ex-
penses will impose an unreasonable burden on
that party or attorney and would be unjust, and
the failure to make such an award would not
impose a greater burden on the party in whose
favor sanctions are to be imposed; or

““(ii) the violation of Rule 11(b) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure was de minimis.

““(C) SANCTIONS.—If the party or attorney
against whom sanctions are to be imposed meets
its burden under subparagraph (B), the court
shall award the sanctions that the court deems
appropriate pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure.

““(d) DEFENDANT’S RIGHT TO WRITTEN INTER-
ROGATORIES.—INn any private action arising
under this title in which the plaintiff may re-
cover money damages only on proof that a de-
fendant acted with a particular state of mind,
the court shall, when requested by a defendant,
submit to the jury a written interrogatory on the
issue of each such defendant’s state of mind at
the time the alleged violation occurred.””.

(b) SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.—Title
I of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (78a et
seq.) is amended by inserting after section 21C
the following new section:

“SEC. 21D. PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION.

““(a) PRIVATE CLASS ACTIONS.—

““(1) IN GENERAL.—The provisions of this sub-
section shall apply in each private action aris-
ing under this title that is brought as a plaintiff
class action pursuant to the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.

““(2) CERTIFICATION FILED WITH COMPLAINT.—

“(A) IN GENERAL.—Each plaintiff seeking to
serve as a representative party on behalf of a
class shall provide a sworn certification, which
shall be personally signed by such plaintiff and
filed with the complaint, that—

‘(i) states that the plaintiff has reviewed the
complaint and authorized its filing;

““(ii) states that the plaintiff did not purchase
the security that is the subject of the complaint
at the direction of plaintiff’s counsel or in order
to participate in any private action arising
under this title;

“(iii) states that the plaintiff is willing to
serve as a representative party on behalf of a
class, including providing testimony at deposi-
tion and trial, if necessary;

“(iv) sets forth all of the transactions of the
plaintiff in the security that is the subject of the
complaint during the class period specified in
the complaint;

““(v) identifies any other action under this
title, filed during the 3-year period preceding
the date on which the certification is signed by
the plaintiff, in which the plaintiff has sought
to serve as a representative party on behalf of a
class; and

““(vi) states that the plaintiff will not accept
any payment for serving as a representative
party on behalf of a class beyond the plaintiff’s
pro rata share of any recovery, except as or-
dered or approved by the court in accordance
with paragraph (4).

““(B) NONWAIVER OF ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVI-
LEGE.—The certification filed pursuant to sub-
paragraph (A) shall not be construed to be a
waiver of the attorney-client privilege.

““(3) APPOINTMENT OF LEAD PLAINTIFF.—

““(A) EARLY NOTICE TO CLASS MEMBERS.—

““(i) IN GENERAL.—Not later than 20 days after
the date on which the complaint is filed, the
plaintiff or plaintiffs shall cause to be pub-
lished, in a widely circulated national business-
oriented publication or wire service, a notice ad-
vising members of the purported plaintiff class—

“(1) of the pendency of the action, the claims
asserted therein, and the purported class period;
and

“(11) that, not later than 60 days after the
date on which the notice is published, any mem-
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ber of the purported class may move the court to
serve as lead plaintiff of the purported class.

“(ii) MULTIPLE ACTIONS.—If more than one
action on behalf of a class asserting substan-
tially the same claim or claims arising under
this title is filed, only the plaintiff or plaintiffs
in the first filed action shall be required to cause
notice to be published in accordance with clause
(i).
““(iii) ADDITIONAL NOTICES MAY BE REQUIRED
UNDER FEDERAL RULES.—Notice required under
clause (i) shall be in addition to any notice re-
quired pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure.

*“(B) APPOINTMENT OF LEAD PLAINTIFF.—

‘(i) IN GENERAL.—Not later than 90 days after
the date on which a notice is published under
subparagraph (A)(i), the court shall consider
any motion made by a purported class member
in response to the notice, including any motion
by a class member who is not individually
named as a plaintiff in the complaint or com-
plaints, and shall appoint as lead plaintiff the
member or members of the purported plaintiff
class that the court determines to be most capa-
ble of adequately representing the interests of
class members (hereafter in this paragraph re-
ferred to as the ‘most adequate plaintiff’) in ac-
cordance with this subparagraph.

““(ii) CONSOLIDATED ACTIONS.—If more than
one action on behalf of a class asserting sub-
stantially the same claim or claims arising under
this title has been filed, and any party has
sought to consolidate those actions for pretrial
purposes or for trial, the court shall not make
the determination required by clause (i) until
after the decision on the motion to consolidate is
rendered. As soon as practicable after such deci-
sion is rendered, the court shall appoint the
most adequate plaintiff as lead plaintiff for the
consolidated actions in accordance with this
paragraph.

““(iii) REBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION.—

“(I) IN GENERAL.—Subject to subclause (I1),
for purposes of clause (i), the court shall adopt
a presumption that the most adequate plaintiff
in any private action arising under this title is
the person or group of persons that—

‘“(aa) has either filed the complaint or made a
motion in response to a notice under subpara-
graph (A)(i);

“(bb) in the determination of the court, has
the largest financial interest in the relief sought
by the class; and

‘““(cc) otherwise satisfies the requirements of
Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

“(I1) REBUTTAL EVIDENCE.—The presumption
described in subclause (I) may be rebutted only
upon proof by a member of the purported plain-
tiff class that the presumptively most adequate
plaintiff—

““(aa) will not fairly and adequately protect
the interests of the class; or

““(bb) is subject to unique defenses that render
such plaintiff incapable of adequately rep-
resenting the class.

““(iv) DiscoveERY.—For purposes of this sub-
paragraph, discovery relating to whether a
member or members of the purported plaintiff
class is the most adequate plaintiff may be con-
ducted by a plaintiff only if the plaintiff first
demonstrates a reasonable basis for a finding
that the presumptively most adequate plaintiff
is incapable of adequately representing the
class.

““(v) SELECTION OF LEAD COUNSEL.—The most
adequate plaintiff shall, subject to the approval
of the court, select and retain counsel to rep-
resent the class.

““(vi) RESTRICTIONS ON PROFESSIONAL PLAIN-
TIFFS.—Except as the court may otherwise per-
mit, consistent with the purposes of this section,
a person may be a lead plaintiff, or an officer,
director, or fiduciary of a lead plaintiff, in no
more than 5 securities class actions brought as
plaintiff class actions pursuant to the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure during any 3-year pe-
riod.
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““(4) RECOVERY BY PLAINTIFFS.—The share of
any final judgment or of any settlement that is
awarded to a representative party serving on be-
half of a class shall be equal, on a per share
basis, to the portion of the final judgment or set-
tlement awarded to all other members of the
class. Nothing in this paragraph shall be con-
strued to limit the award of reasonable costs
and expenses (including lost wages) directly re-
lating to the representation of the class to any
representative party serving on behalf of a class.

““(5) RESTRICTIONS ON SETTLEMENTS UNDER
SEAL.—The terms and provisions of any settle-
ment agreement of a class action shall not be
filed under seal, except that on motion of any
party to the settlement, the court may order fil-
ing under seal for those portions of a settlement
agreement as to which good cause is shown for
such filing under seal. For purposes of this
paragraph, good cause shall exist only if publi-
cation of a term or provision of a settlement
agreement would cause direct and substantial
harm to any party.

‘“(6) RESTRICTIONS ON PAYMENT OF ATTOR-
NEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES.—Total attorneys’ fees
and expenses awarded by the court to counsel
for the plaintiff class shall not exceed a reason-
able percentage of the amount of any damages
and prejudgment interest actually paid to the
class.

““(7) DISCLOSURE OF SETTLEMENT TERMS TO
CLASS MEMBERS.—AnNy proposed or final settle-
ment agreement that is published or otherwise
disseminated to the class shall include each of
the following statements, along with a cover
page summarizing the information contained in
such statements:

““(A) STATEMENT OF PLAINTIFF RECOVERY.—
The amount of the settlement proposed to be dis-
tributed to the parties to the action, determined
in the aggregate and on an average per share
basis.

““(B) STATEMENT OF POTENTIAL OUTCOME OF
CASE.—

‘(i) AGREEMENT ON AMOUNT OF DAMAGES.—If
the settling parties agree on the average amount
of damages per share that would be recoverable
if the plaintiff prevailed on each claim alleged
under this title, a statement concerning the av-
erage amount of such potential damages per
share.

‘“(ii) DISAGREEMENT ON AMOUNT OF DAM-
AGES.—If the parties do not agree on the aver-
age amount of damages per share that would be
recoverable if the plaintiff prevailed on each
claim alleged under this title, a statement from
each settling party concerning the issue or is-
sues on which the parties disagree.

“(iii) INADMISSIBILITY FOR CERTAIN PUR-
POSES.—A statement made in accordance with
clause (i) or (ii) concerning the amount of dam-
ages shall not be admissible in any Federal or
State judicial action or administrative proceed-
ing, other than an action or proceeding arising
out of such statement.

““(C) STATEMENT OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES OR
COSTS SOUGHT.—If any of the settling parties or
their counsel intend to apply to the court for an
award of attorneys’ fees or costs from any fund
established as part of the settlement, a state-
ment indicating which parties or counsel intend
to make such an application, the amount of fees
and costs that will be sought (including the
amount of such fees and costs determined on an
average per share basis), and a brief expla-
nation supporting the fees and costs sought.
Such information shall be clearly summarized
on the cover page of any notice to a party of
any proposed or final settlement agreement.

‘(D) IDENTIFICATION OF LAWYERS’ REPRESENT-
ATIVES.—The name, telephone number, and ad-
dress of one or more representatives of counsel
for the plaintiff class who will be reasonably
available to answer questions from class mem-
bers concerning any matter contained in any
notice of settlement published or otherwise dis-
seminated to the class.
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“(E) REASONS FOR SETTLEMENT.—A brief
statement explaining the reasons why the par-
ties are proposing the settlement.

““(F) OTHER INFORMATION.—Such other infor-
mation as may be required by the court.

““(8) SECURITY FOR PAYMENT OF COSTS IN
CLASS ACTIONS.—In any private action arising
under this title that is certified as a class action
pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure, the court may require an undertaking
from the attorneys for the plaintiff class, the
plaintiff class, or both, or from the attorneys for
the defendant, the defendant, or both, in such
proportions and at such times as the court de-
termines are just and equitable, for the payment
of fees and expenses that may be awarded under
this subsection.

““(9) ATTORNEY CONFLICT OF INTEREST.—If a
plaintiff class is represented by an attorney who
directly owns or otherwise has a beneficial in-
terest in the securities that are the subject of the
litigation, the court shall make a determination
of whether such ownership or other interest
constitutes a conflict of interest sufficient to dis-
qualify the attorney from representing the
plaintiff class.

““(b) REQUIREMENTS FOR SECURITIES FRAUD
ACTIONS.—

““(1) MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND OMIS-
SIONS.—In any private action arising under this
title in which the plaintiff alleges that the de-
fendant—

“(A) made an untrue statement of a material
fact; or

““(B) omitted to state a material fact necessary
in order to make the statements made, in the
light of the circumstances in which they were
made, not misleading;

the complaint shall specify each statement al-
leged to have been misleading, the reason or
reasons why the statement is misleading, and, if
an allegation regarding the statement or omis-
sion is made on information and belief, the com-
plaint shall state with particularity all facts on
which that belief is formed.

““(2) REQUIRED STATE OF MIND.—In any pri-
vate action arising under this title in which the
plaintiff may recover money damages only on
proof that the defendant acted with a particular
state of mind, the complaint shall, with respect
to each act or omission alleged to violate this
title, state with particularity facts giving rise to
a strong inference that the defendant acted with
the required state of mind.

“(83) MOTION TO DISMISS; STAY OF DISCOV-
ERY.—

““(A) DISMISSAL FOR FAILURE TO MEET PLEAD-
ING REQUIREMENTS.—IN any private action aris-
ing under this title, the court shall, on the mo-
tion of any defendant, dismiss the complaint if
the requirements of paragraphs (1) and (2) are
not met.

““(B) STAY OF DISCOVERY.—In any private ac-
tion arising under this title, all discovery and
other proceedings shall be stayed during the
pendency of any motion to dismiss, unless the
court finds upon the motion of any party that
particularized discovery is necessary to preserve
evidence or to prevent undue prejudice to that
party.

*“(C) PRESERVATION OF EVIDENCE.—

“(i) IN GENERAL.—During the pendency of
any stay of discovery pursuant to this para-
graph, unless otherwise ordered by the court,
any party to the action with actual notice of the
allegations contained in the complaint shall
treat all documents, data compilations (includ-
ing electronically recorded or stored data), and
tangible objects that are in the custody or con-
trol of such person and that are relevant to the
allegations, as if they were the subject of a con-
tinuing request for production of documents
from an opposing party under the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure.

“(ii) SANCTION FOR WILLFUL VIOLATION.—A
party aggrieved by the willful failure of an op-
posing party to comply with clause (i) may
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apply to the court for an order awarding appro-
priate sanctions.

‘“(4) LOss CAUSATION.—In any private action
arising under this title, the plaintiff shall have
the burden of proving that the act or omission
of the defendant alleged to violate this title
caused the loss for which the plaintiff seeks to
recover damages.

‘(c) SANCTIONS FOR ABUSIVE LITIGATION.—

““(1) MANDATORY REVIEW BY COURT.—In any
private action arising under this title, upon
final adjudication of the action, the court shall
include in the record specific findings regarding
compliance by each party and each attorney
representing any party with each requirement of
Rule 11(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure as to any complaint, responsive pleading,
or dispositive motion.

““(2) MANDATORY SANCTIONS.—If the court
makes a finding under paragraph (1) that a
party or attorney violated any requirement of
Rule 11(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure as to any complaint, responsive pleading,
or dispositive motion, the court shall impose
sanctions on such party or attorney in accord-
ance with Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. Prior to making a finding that any
party or attorney has violated Rule 11 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the court shall
give such party or attorney notice and an op-
portunity to respond.

““(3) PRESUMPTION IN FAVOR OF ATTORNEYS’
FEES AND COSTS.—

““(A) IN GENERAL.—Subject to subparagraphs
(B) and (C), for purposes of paragraph (2), the
court shall adopt a presumption that the appro-
priate sanction—

*“(i) for failure of any responsive pleading or
dispositive motion to comply with any require-
ment of Rule 11(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure is an award to the opposing party of
the reasonable attorneys’ fees and other ex-
penses incurred as a direct result of the viola-
tion; and

““(ii) for substantial failure of any complaint
to comply with any requirement of Rule 11(b) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is an
award to the opposing party of the reasonable
attorneys’ fees and other expenses incurred in
the action.

‘“(B) REBUTTAL EVIDENCE.—The presumption
described in subparagraph (A) may be rebutted
only upon proof by the party or attorney
against whom sanctions are to be imposed
that—

(i) the award of attorneys’ fees and other ex-
penses will impose an unreasonable burden on
that party or attorney and would be unjust, and
the failure to make such an award would not
impose a greater burden on the party in whose
favor sanctions are to be imposed; or

““(ii) the violation of Rule 11(b) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure was de minimis.

“(C) SANCTIONS.—If the party or attorney
against whom sanctions are to be imposed meets
its burden under subparagraph (B), the court
shall award the sanctions that the court deems
appropriate pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure.

‘“(d) DEFENDANT’S RIGHT TO WRITTEN INTER-
ROGATORIES.—INn any private action arising
under this title in which the plaintiff may re-
cover money damages, the court shall, when re-
quested by a defendant, submit to the jury a
written interrogatory on the issue of each such
defendant’s state of mind at the time the alleged
violation occurred.

‘“(e) LIMITATION ON DAMAGES.—

““(1) IN GENERAL.—EXxcept as provided in para-
graph (2), in any private action arising under
this title in which the plaintiff seeks to establish
damages by reference to the market price of a
security, the award of damages to the plaintiff
shall not exceed the difference between the pur-
chase or sale price paid or received, as appro-
priate, by the plaintiff for the subject security
and the mean trading price of that security dur-
ing the 90-day period beginning on the date on
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which the information correcting the
misstatement or omission that is the basis for the
action is disseminated to the market.

““(2) EXCEPTION.—IN any private action aris-
ing under this title in which the plaintiff seeks
to establish damages by reference to the market
price of a security, if the plaintiff sells or
repurchases the subject security prior to the ex-
piration of the 90-day period described in para-
graph (1), the plaintiff’s damages shall not ex-
ceed the difference between the purchase or sale
price paid or received, as appropriate, by the
plaintiff for the security and the mean trading
price of the security during the period beginning
immediately after dissemination of information
correcting the misstatement or omission and
ending on the date on which the plaintiff sells
or repurchases the security.

““(3) DEFINITION.—For purposes of this sub-
section, the ‘mean trading price’ of a security
shall be an average of the daily trading price of
that security, determined as of the close of the
market each day during the 90-day period re-
ferred to in paragraph (1).”.

SEC. 102. SAFE HARBOR FOR FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS.

(a) AMENDMENT TO THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933.—Title |1 of the Securities Act of 1933 (15
U.S.C. 77a et seq.) is amended by inserting after
section 27 (as added by this Act) the following
new section:

“SEC. 27A. APPLICATION OF SAFE HARBOR FOR
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

““(a) APPLICABILITY.—This section shall apply
only to a forward-looking statement made by—

““(1) an issuer that, at the time that the state-
ment is made, is subject to the reporting require-
ments of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934;

““(2) a person acting on behalf of such issuer;

““(3) an outside reviewer retained by such is-
suer making a statement on behalf of such is-
suer; or

““(4) an underwriter, with respect to informa-
tion provided by such issuer or information de-
rived from information provided by the issuer.

““(b) EXCLUSIONS.—EXxcept to the extent other-
wise specifically provided by rule, regulation, or
order of the Commission, this section shall not
apply to a forward-looking statement—

““(1) that is made with respect to the business
or operations of the issuer, if the issuer—

““(A) during the 3-year period preceding the
date on which the statement was first made—

“(i) was convicted of any felony or mis-
demeanor described in clauses (i) through (iv) of
section 15(b)(4)(B) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; or

““(ii) has been made the subject of a judicial or
administrative decree or order arising out of a
governmental action that—

“(I) prohibits future violations of the anti-
fraud provisions of the securities laws;

“(I1) requires that the issuer cease and desist
from violating the antifraud provisions of the
securities laws; or

“(111) determines that the issuer violated the
antifraud provisions of the securities laws;

““(B) makes the forward-looking statement in
connection with an offering of securities by a
blank check company;

““(C) issues penny stock;

‘(D) makes the forward-looking statement in
connection with a rollup transaction; or

“(E) makes the forward-looking statement in
connection with a going private transaction; or

“(2) that is—

“(A) included in a financial statement pre-
pared in accordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles;

““(B) contained in a registration statement of,
or otherwise issued by, an investment company;

““(C) made in connection with a tender offer;

‘(D) made in connection with an initial pub-
lic offering;

““(E) made in connection with an offering by,
or relating to the operations of, a partnership,
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limited liability company, or a direct participa-
tion investment program; or

““(F) made in a disclosure of beneficial owner-
ship in a report required to be filed with the
Commission pursuant to section 13(d) of the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934.

““(c) SAFE HARBOR.—

““(1) IN GENERAL.—EXxcept as provided in sub-
section (b), in any private action arising under
this title that is based on an untrue statement of
a material fact or omission of a material fact
necessary to make the statement not misleading,
a person referred to in subsection (a) shall not
be liable with respect to any forward-looking
statement, whether written or oral, if and to the
extent that—

““(A) the forward-looking statement is—

‘(i) identified as a forward-looking statement,
and is accompanied by meaningful cautionary
statements identifying important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially
from those in the forward-looking statement; or

““(ii) immaterial; or

““(B) the plaintiff fails to prove that the for-
ward-looking statement—

“@i) if made by a natural person, was made
with actual knowledge by that person that the
statement was false or misleading; or

““(ii) if made by a business entity; was—

“(1) made by or with the approval of an exec-
utive officer of that entity, and

“(11) made or approved by such officer with
actual knowledge by that officer that the state-
ment was false or misleading.

““(2) ORAL FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.—
In the case of an oral forward-looking statement
made by an issuer that is subject to the report-
ing requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or by a
person acting on behalf of such issuer, the re-
quirement set forth in paragraph (1)(A) shall be
deemed to be satisfied—

“(A) if the oral forward-looking statement is
accompanied by a cautionary statement—

‘(i) that the particular oral statement is a for-
ward-looking statement; and

““(ii) that the actual results could differ mate-
rially from those projected in the forward-look-
ing statement; and

“(B) if—

““(i) the oral forward-looking statement is ac-
companied by an oral statement that additional
information concerning factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those in
the forward-looking statement is contained in a
readily available written document, or portion
thereof;

““(ii) the accompanying oral statement referred
to in clause (i) identifies the document, or por-
tion thereof, that contains the additional infor-
mation about those factors relating to the for-
ward-looking statement; and

“(iii) the information contained in that writ-
ten document is a cautionary statement that
satisfies the standard established in paragraph
DA).

““(3) AVAILABILITY.—Any document filed with
the Commission or generally disseminated shall
be deemed to be readily available for purposes of
paragraph (2).

‘“(4) EFFECT ON OTHER SAFE HARBORS.—The
exemption provided for in paragraph (1) shall be
in addition to any exemption that the Commis-
sion may establish by rule or regulation under
subsection (g).

““(d) DuTty To UPDATE.—Nothing in this sec-
tion shall impose upon any person a duty to up-
date a forward-looking statement.

““(e) DISPOSITIVE MOTION.—On any motion to
dismiss based upon subsection (c)(1), the court
shall consider any statement cited in the com-
plaint and cautionary statement accompanying
the forward-looking statement, which are not
subject to material dispute, cited by the defend-
ant.

““(f) STAY PENDING DECISION ON MOTION.—In
any private action arising under this title, the
court shall stay discovery (other than discovery
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that is specifically directed to the applicability
of the exemption provided for in this section)
during the pendency of any motion by a defend-
ant for summary judgment that is based on the
grounds that—

‘(1) the statement or omission upon which the
complaint is based is a forward-looking state-
ment within the meaning of this section; and

“(2) the exemption provided for in this section
precludes a claim for relief.

““(g) EXEMPTION AUTHORITY.—In addition to
the exemptions provided for in this section, the
Commission may, by rule or regulation, provide
exemptions from or under any provision of this
title, including with respect to liability that is
based on a statement or that is based on projec-
tions or other forward-looking information, if
and to the extent that any such exemption is
consistent with the public interest and the pro-
tection of investors, as determined by the Com-
mission.

““(h) EFFECT ON OTHER AUTHORITY OF COM-
MissioN.—Nothing in this section limits, either
expressly or by implication, the authority of the
Commission to exercise similar authority or to
adopt similar rules and regulations with respect
to forward-looking statements under any other
statute under which the Commission exercises
rulemaking authority.

‘(i) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this sec-
tion, the following definitions shall apply:

““(1) FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT.—The
term ‘forward-looking statement’ means—

“(A) a statement containing a projection of
revenues, income (including income loss), earn-
ings (including earnings loss) per share, capital
expenditures, dividends, capital structure, or
other financial items;

*“(B) a statement of the plans and objectives of
management for future operations, including
plans or objectives relating to the products or
services of the issuer;

““(C) a statement of future economic perform-
ance, including any such statement contained
in a discussion and analysis of financial condi-
tion by the management or in the results of op-
erations included pursuant to the rules and reg-
ulations of the Commission;

‘(D) any statement of the assumptions under-
lying or relating to any statement described in
subparagraph (A), (B), or (C);

“(E) any report issued by an outside reviewer
retained by an issuer, to the extent that the re-
port assesses a forward-looking statement made
by the issuer; or

“(F) a statement containing a projection or
estimate of such other items as may be specified
by rule or regulation of the Commission.

““(2) INVESTMENT COMPANY.—The term ‘invest-
ment company’ has the same meaning as in sec-
tion 3(a) of the Investment Company Act of
1940.

““(3) PENNY STOCK.—The term ‘penny stock’
has the same meaning as in section 3(a)(51) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the
rules and regulations, or orders issued pursuant
to that section.

‘“(4) GOING PRIVATE TRANSACTION.—The term
‘going private transaction’ has the meaning
given that term under the rules or regulations of
the Commission issued pursuant to section 13(e)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

““(5) SECURITIES LAWS.—The term ‘securities
laws’ has the same meaning as in section 3 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

‘“(6) PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF AN IS-
SUER.—The term ‘person acting on behalf of an
issuer’ means an officer, director, or employee of
the issuer.

“(7) OTHER TERMS.—The terms ‘blank check
company’, ‘rollup transaction’, ‘partnership’,
‘limited liability company’, ‘executive officer of
an entity’ and ‘direct participation investment
program’, have the meanings given those terms
by rule or regulation of the Commission.”’.

(b) AMENDMENT TO THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934.—The Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (15 U.S.C. 78a et seq.) is amended by insert-
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ing after section 21D (as added by this Act) the

following new section:

“SEC. 21E. APPLICATION OF SAFE HARBOR FOR
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

““(a) APPLICABILITY.—This section shall apply
only to a forward-looking statement made by—

““(1) an issuer that, at the time that the state-
ment is made, is subject to the reporting require-
ments of section 13(a) or section 15(d);

““(2) a person acting on behalf of such issuer;

““(3) an outside reviewer retained by such is-
suer making a statement on behalf of such is-
suer; or

““(4) an underwriter, with respect to informa-
tion provided by such issuer or information de-
rived from information provided by such issuer.

““(b) ExcLUsIONS.—Except to the extent other-
wise specifically provided by rule, regulation, or
order of the Commission, this section shall not
apply to a forward-looking statement—

‘(1) that is made with respect to the business
or operations of the issuer, if the issuer—

““(A) during the 3-year period preceding the
date on which the statement was first made—

“(i) was convicted of any felony or mis-
demeanor described in clauses (i) through (iv) of
section 15(b)(4)(B); or

“‘(ii) has been made the subject of a judicial or
administrative decree or order arising out of a
governmental action that—

“(1) prohibits future violations of the anti-
fraud provisions of the securities laws;

“(I1) requires that the issuer cease and desist
from violating the antifraud provisions of the
securities laws; or

“(111) determines that the issuer violated the
antifraud provisions of the securities laws;

““(B) makes the forward-looking statement in
connection with an offering of securities by a
blank check company;

““(C) issues penny stock;

‘(D) makes the forward-looking statement in
connection with a rollup transaction; or

“(E) makes the forward-looking statement in
connection with a going private transaction; or

“(2) that is—

“(A) included in a financial statement pre-
pared in accordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles;

““(B) contained in a registration statement of,
or otherwise issued by, an investment company;

““(C) made in connection with a tender offer;

‘(D) made in connection with an initial pub-
lic offering;

“(E) made in connection with an offering by,
or relating to the operations of, a partnership,
limited liability company, or a direct participa-
tion investment program; or

““(F) made in a disclosure of beneficial owner-
ship in a report required to be filed with the
Commission pursuant to section 13(d).

“‘(c) SAFE HARBOR.—

““(1) IN GENERAL.—Except as provided in sub-
section (b), in any private action arising under
this title that is based on an untrue statement of
a material fact or omission of a material fact
necessary to make the statement not misleading,
a person referred to in subsection (a) shall not
be liable with respect to any forward-looking
statement, whether written or oral, if and to the
extent that—

““(A) the forward-looking statement is—

‘(i) identified as a forward-looking statement,
and is accompanied by meaningful cautionary
statements identifying important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially
from those in the forward-looking statement; or

‘(i) immaterial; or

“(B) the plaintiff fails to prove that the for-
ward-looking statement—

“(i) if made by a natural person, was made
with actual knowledge by that person that the
statement was false or misleading; or

“(ii) if made by a business entity; was—

“(1) made by or with the approval of an exec-
utive officer of that entity; and

“(I1) made or approved by such officer with
actual knowledge by that officer that the state-
ment was false or misleading.
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““(2) ORAL FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.—
In the case of an oral forward-looking statement
made by an issuer that is subject to the report-
ing requirements of section 13(a) or section
15(d), or by a person acting on behalf of such is-
suer, the requirement set forth in paragraph
(1)(A) shall be deemed to be satisfied—

“(A) if the oral forward-looking statement is
accompanied by a cautionary statement—

‘(i) that the particular oral statement is a for-
ward-looking statement; and

““(ii) that the actual results might differ mate-
rially from those projected in the forward-look-
ing statement; and

“(B) if—

‘(i) the oral forward-looking statement is ac-
companied by an oral statement that additional
information concerning factors that could cause
actual results to materially differ from those in
the forward-looking statement is contained in a
readily available written document, or portion
thereof;

“(ii) the accompanying oral statement referred
to in clause (i) identifies the document, or por-
tion thereof, that contains the additional infor-
mation about those factors relating to the for-
ward-looking statement; and

““(iii) the information contained in that writ-
ten document is a cautionary statement that
satisfies the standard established in paragraph
DA).

““(3) AVAILABILITY.—ANny document filed with
the Commission or generally disseminated shall
be deemed to be readily available for purposes of
paragraph (2).

““(4) EFFECT ON OTHER SAFE HARBORS.—The
exemption provided for in paragraph (1) shall be
in addition to any exemption that the Commis-
sion may establish by rule or regulation under
subsection (g).

““(d) DuTty To UPDATE.—Nothing in this sec-
tion shall impose upon any person a duty to up-
date a forward-looking statement.

““(e) DISPOSITIVE MOTION.—On any motion to
dismiss based upon subsection (c)(1), the court
shall consider any statement cited in the com-
plaint and any cautionary statement accom-
panying the forward-looking statement, which
are not subject to material dispute, cited by the
defendant.

““(f) STAY PENDING DECISION ON MOTION.—In
any private action arising under this title, the
court shall stay discovery (other than discovery
that is specifically directed to the applicability
of the exemption provided for in this section)
during the pendency of any motion by a defend-
ant for summary judgment that is based on the
grounds that—

““(1) the statement or omission upon which the
complaint is based is a forward-looking state-
ment within the meaning of this section; and

““(2) the exemption provided for in this section
precludes a claim for relief.

““(g) EXEMPTION AUTHORITY.—In addition to
the exemptions provided for in this section, the
Commission may, by rule or regulation, provide
exemptions from or under any provision of this
title, including with respect to liability that is
based on a statement or that is based on projec-
tions or other forward-looking information, if
and to the extent that any such exemption is
consistent with the public interest and the pro-
tection of investors, as determined by the Com-
mission.

““(h) EFFECT ON OTHER AUTHORITY OF COM-
MISSION.—Nothing in this section limits, either
expressly or by implication, the authority of the
Commission to exercise similar authority or to
adopt similar rules and regulations with respect
to forward-looking statements under any other
statute under which the Commission exercises
rulemaking authority.

““(i) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this sec-
tion, the following definitions shall apply:

““(1) FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT.—The
term ‘forward-looking statement’ means—

“(A) a statement containing a projection of
revenues, income (including income loss), earn-
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ings (including earnings loss) per share, capital
expenditures, dividends, capital structure, or
other financial items;

““(B) a statement of the plans and objectives of
management for future operations, including
plans or objectives relating to the products or
services of the issuer;

““(C) a statement of future economic perform-
ance, including any such statement contained
in a discussion and analysis of financial condi-
tion by the management or in the results of op-
erations included pursuant to the rules and reg-
ulations of the Commission;

‘(D) any statement of the assumptions under-
lying or relating to any statement described in
subparagraph (A), (B), or (C);

““(E) any report issued by an outside reviewer
retained by an issuer, to the extent that the re-
port assesses a forward-looking statement made
by the issuer; or

“(F) a statement containing a projection or
estimate of such other items as may be specified
by rule or regulation of the Commission.

““(2) INVESTMENT COMPANY.—The term ‘invest-
ment company’ has the same meaning as in sec-
tion 3(a) of the Investment Company Act of
1940.

““(3) GOING PRIVATE TRANSACTION.—The term
‘going private transaction’ has the meaning
given that term under the rules or regulations of
the Commission issued pursuant to section 13(e).

‘“(4) PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF AN IS-
SUER.—The term ‘person acting on behalf of an
issuer’ means any officer, director, or employee
of such issuer.

““(5) OTHER TERMS.—The terms ‘blank check
company’, ‘rollup transaction’, ‘partnership’,
‘limited liability company’, ‘executive officer of
an entity’ and ‘direct participation investment
program’, have the meanings given those terms
by rule or regulation of the Commission.””.

SEC. 103. ELIMINATION OF CERTAIN ABUSIVE
PRACTICES.

(a) PROHIBITION OF REFERRAL FEES.—Section
15(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15
U.S.C. 780(c)) is amended by adding at the end
the following new paragraph:

‘“(8) PROHIBITION OF REFERRAL FEES.—NoO
broker or dealer, or person associated with a
broker or dealer, may solicit or accept, directly
or indirectly, remuneration for assisting an at-
torney in obtaining the representation of any
person in any private action arising under this
title or under the Securities Act of 1933.”".

(b) PROHIBITION OF ATTORNEYS' FEES PAID
FROM COMMISSION DISGORGEMENT FUNDS.—

(1) SECURITIES ACT OF 1933.—Section 20 of the
Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77t) is amended
by adding at the end the following new sub-
section:

““(f) PROHIBITION OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES PAID
FROM COMMISSION DISGORGEMENT FUNDS.—EX-
cept as otherwise ordered by the court upon mo-
tion by the Commission, or, in the case of an ad-
ministrative action, as otherwise ordered by the
Commission, funds disgorged as the result of an
action brought by the Commission in Federal
court, or as a result of any Commission adminis-
trative action, shall not be distributed as pay-
ment for attorneys’ fees or expenses incurred by
private parties seeking distribution of the dis-
gorged funds.”’.

(2) SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.—Section
21(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15
U.S.C. 78u(d)) is amended by adding at the end
the following new paragraph:

‘“(4) PROHIBITION OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES PAID
FROM COMMISSION DISGORGEMENT FUNDS.—EXx-
cept as otherwise ordered by the court upon mo-
tion by the Commission, or, in the case of an ad-
ministrative action, as otherwise ordered by the
Commission, funds disgorged as the result of an
action brought by the Commission in Federal
court, or as a result of any Commission adminis-
trative action, shall not be distributed as pay-
ment for attorneys’ fees or expenses incurred by
private parties seeking distribution of the dis-
gorged funds.”’.
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SEC. 104. AUTHORITY OF COMMISSION TO PROS-
ECUTE AIDING AND ABETTING.

Section 20 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (15 U.S.C. 78t) is amended—

(1) by striking the section heading and insert-
ing the following:

““LIABILITY OF CONTROLLING PERSONS AND
PERSONS WHO AID AND ABET VIOLATIONS’’;
and

(2) by adding at the end the following new
subsection:

““(f) PROSECUTION OF PERSONS WHO AID AND
ABET VIOLATIONS.—For purposes of any action
brought by the Commission under paragraph (1)
or (3) of section 21(d), any person that know-
ingly provides substantial assistance to another
person in violation of a provision of this title, or
of any rule or regulation issued under this title,
shall be deemed to be in violation of such provi-
sion to the same extent as the person to whom
such assistance is provided.”.

SEC. 105. LOSS CAUSATION.

Section 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 (15
U.S.C. 771) is amended—

(1) by inserting ‘“(a) IN GENERAL.—’’ before
“Any person’’;

(2) by inserting *“, subject to subsection (b),”
after “‘shall be liable’’; and

(3) by adding at the end the following:

““(b) Loss CAUSATION.—In an action described
in subsection (a)(2), if the person who offered or
sold such security proves that any portion or all
of the amount recoverable under subsection
(a)(2) represents other than the depreciation in
value of the subject security resulting from such
part of the prospectus or oral communication,
with respect to which the liability of that person
is asserted, not being true or omitting to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statement not misleading,
then such portion or amount, as the case may
be, shall not be recoverable.”.

SEC. 106. STUDY AND REPORT ON PROTECTIONS
FOR SENIOR CITIZENS AND QUALI-
FIED RETIREMENT PLANS.

(a) IN GENERAL.—Not later than 180 days
after the date of enactment of this Act, the Se-
curities and Exchange Commission shall—

(1) determine whether investors that are sen-
ior citizens or qualified retirement plans require
greater protection against securities fraud than
is provided in this Act and the amendments
made by this Act;

(2) determine whether investors that are sen-
ior citizens or qualified retirement plans have
been adversely impacted by abusive or unneces-
sary securities fraud litigation, and whether the
provisions in this Act or amendments made by
this Act are sufficient to protect their invest-
ments from such litigation; and

(3) if so, submit to the Congress a report con-
taining recommendations on protections from se-
curities fraud and abusive or unnecessary secu-
rities fraud litigation that the Commission deter-
mines to be appropriate to thoroughly protect
such investors.

(b) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this sec-
tion—

(1) the term “‘qualified retirement plan’ has
the same meaning as in section 4974(c) of the In-
ternal Revenue Code of 1986; and

(2) the term ‘‘senior citizen”” means an indi-
vidual who is 62 years of age or older as of the
date of the securities transaction at issue.

SEC. 107. AMENDMENT TO RACKETEER INFLU-
ENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZA-
TIONS ACT.

Section 1964(c) of title 18, United States Code,
is amended by inserting before the period ‘*, ex-
cept that no person may rely upon any conduct
that would have been actionable as fraud in the
purchase or sale of securities to establish a vio-
lation of section 1962. The exception contained
in the preceding sentence does not apply to an
action against any person that is criminally
convicted in connection with the fraud, in
which case the statute of limitations shall start
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to run on the date on which the conviction be-
comes final™.
SEC. 108. APPLICABILITY.

The amendments made by this title shall not
affect or apply to any private action arising
under title 1 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 or title | of the Securities Act of 1933, com-
menced before and pending on the date of en-
actment of this Act.

TITLE II—REDUCTION OF COERCIVE
SETTLEMENTS
SEC. 201. PROPORTIONATE LIABILITY.

(a) AMENDMENT TO SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934.—Section 21D the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 (as added by this Act) is
amended by adding at the end the following
new subsection:

““(g) PROPORTIONATE LIABILITY.—

““(1) APPLICABILITY.—Nothing in this sub-
section shall be construed to create, affect, or in
any manner modify, the standard for liability
associated with any action arising under the se-
curities laws.

““(2) LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES.—

““(A) JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY.—AnNy cov-
ered person against whom a final judgment is
entered in a private action shall be liable for
damages jointly and severally only if the trier of
fact specifically determines that such covered
person knowingly committed a violation of the
securities laws.

*“(B) PROPORTIONATE LIABILITY.—

““(i) IN GENERAL.—EXxcept as provided in para-
graph (1), a covered person against whom a
final judgment is entered in a private action
shall be liable solely for the portion of the judg-
ment that corresponds to the percentage of re-
sponsibility of that covered person, as deter-
mined under paragraph (3).

““(il) RECOVERY BY AND COSTS OF COVERED
PERSON.—In any case in which a contractual re-
lationship permits, a covered person that pre-
vails in any private action may recover the at-
torney’s fees and costs of that covered person in
connection with the action.

*“(3) DETERMINATION OF RESPONSIBILITY.—

““(A) IN GENERAL.—IN any private action, the
court shall instruct the jury to answer special
interrogatories, or if there is no jury, shall make
findings, with respect to each covered person
and each of the other persons claimed by any of
the parties to have caused or contributed to the
loss incurred by the plaintiff, including persons
who have entered into settlements with the
plaintiff or plaintiffs, concerning—

““(i) whether such person violated the securi-
ties laws;

““(ii) the percentage of responsibility of such
person, measured as a percentage of the total
fault of all persons who caused or contributed to
the loss incurred by the plaintiff; and

““(iii) whether such person knowingly commit-
ted a violation of the securities laws.

‘“(B) CONTENTS OF SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES
OR FINDINGS.—The responses to interrogatories,
or findings, as appropriate, under subparagraph
(A) shall specify the total amount of damages
that the plaintiff is entitled to recover and the
percentage of responsibility of each covered per-
son found to have caused or contributed to the
loss incurred by the plaintiff or plaintiffs.

““(C) FACTORS FOR CONSIDERATION.—In deter-
mining the percentage of responsibility under
this paragraph, the trier of fact shall consider—

““(i) the nature of the conduct of each covered
person found to have caused or contributed to
the loss incurred by the plaintiff or plaintiffs;
and

““(ii) the nature and extent of the causal rela-
tionship between the conduct of each such per-
son and the damages incurred by the plaintiff or
plaintiffs.

“(4) UNCOLLECTIBLE SHARE.—

“(A) IN GENERAL.—Notwithstanding para-
graph (2)(B), upon motion made not later than
6 months after a final judgment is entered in
any private action, the court determines that all
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or part of the share of the judgment of the cov-
ered person is not collectible against that cov-
ered person, and is also not collectible against a
covered person described in paragraph (2)(A),
each covered person described in paragraph
(2)(B) shall be liable for the uncollectible share
as follows:

(i) PERCENTAGE OF NET WORTH.—Each cov-
ered person shall be jointly and severally liable
for the uncollectible share if the plaintiff estab-
lishes that—

“(1) the plaintiff is an individual whose recov-
erable damages under the final judgment are
equal to more than 10 percent of the net worth
of the plaintiff; and

“(I1) the net worth of the plaintiff is equal to
less than $200,000.

‘(i) OTHER PLAINTIFFS.—With respect to any
plaintiff not described in subclauses (1) and (1)
of clause (i), each covered person shall be liable
for the uncollectible share in proportion to the
percentage of responsibility of that covered per-
son, except that the total liability of a covered
person under this clause may not exceed 50 per-
cent of the proportionate share of that covered
person, as determined under paragraph (3)(B).

““(iii) NET WORTH.—For purposes of this sub-
paragraph, net worth shall be determined as of
the date immediately preceding the date of the
purchase or sale (as applicable) by the plaintiff
of the security that is the subject of the action,
and shall be equal to the fair market value of
assets, minus liabilities, including the net value
of the investments of the plaintiff in real and
personal property (including personal resi-
dences).

‘“(B) OVERALL LIMIT.—In no case shall the
total payments required pursuant to subpara-
graph (A) exceed the amount of the uncollectible
share.

““(C) COVERED PERSONS SUBJECT TO CONTRIBU-
TION.—A covered person against whom judg-
ment is not collectible shall be subject to con-
tribution and to any continuing liability to the
plaintiff on the judgment.

““(5) RIGHT OF CONTRIBUTION.—To the extent
that a covered person is required to make an ad-
ditional payment pursuant to paragraph (4),
that covered person may recover contribution—

““(A) from the covered person originally liable
to make the payment;

“(B) from any covered person liable jointly
and severally pursuant to paragraph (2)(A);

““(C) from any covered person held proportion-
ately liable pursuant to this paragraph who is
liable to make the same payment and has paid
less than his or her proportionate share of that
payment; or

‘(D) from any other person responsible for the
conduct giving rise to the payment that would
have been liable to make the same payment.

““(6) NONDISCLOSURE TO JURY.—The standard
for allocation of damages under paragraphs (2)
and (3) and the procedure for reallocation of
uncollectible shares under paragraph (4) shall
not be disclosed to members of the jury.

““(7) SETTLEMENT DISCHARGE.—

““(A) IN GENERAL.—A covered person who set-
tles any private action at any time before final
verdict or judgment shall be discharged from all
claims for contribution brought by other per-
sons. Upon entry of the settlement by the court,
the court shall enter a bar order constituting the
final discharge of all obligations to the plaintiff
of the settling covered person arising out of the
action. The order shall bar all future claims for
contribution arising out of the action—

(i) by any person against the settling covered
person; and

“(ii) by the settling covered person against
any person, other than a person whose liability
has been extinguished by the settlement of the
settling covered person.

‘“(B) REDUCTION.—If a covered person enters
into a settlement with the plaintiff prior to final
verdict or judgment, the verdict or judgment
shall be reduced by the greater of—

‘(i) an amount that corresponds to the per-
centage of responsibility of that covered person;
or
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““(ii) the amount paid to the plaintiff by that
covered person.

‘“(8) CONTRIBUTION.—A covered person who
becomes jointly and severally liable for damages
in any private action may recover contribution
from any other person who, if joined in the
original action, would have been liable for the
same damages. A claim for contribution shall be
determined based on the percentage of respon-
sibility of the claimant and of each person
against whom a claim for contribution is made.

““(9) STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR CONTRIBU-
TION.—INn any private action determining liabil-
ity, an action for contribution shall be brought
not later than 6 months after the entry of a
final, nonappealable judgment in the action, ex-
cept that an action for contribution brought by
a covered person who was required to make an
additional payment pursuant to paragraph (4)
may be brought not later than 6 months after
the date on which such payment was made.

““(10) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this sub-
section—

““(A) a covered person ‘knowingly commits a
violation of the securities laws’™—

““(i) with respect to an action that is based on
an untrue statement of material fact or omission
of a material fact necessary to make the state-
ment not misleading, if—

“(1) that covered person makes an untrue
statement of a material fact, with actual knowl-
edge that the representation is false, or omits to
state a fact necessary in order to make the state-
ment made not misleading, with actual knowl-
edge that, as a result of the omission, one of the
material representations of the covered person is
false; and

“(I1) persons are likely to reasonably rely on
that misrepresentation or omission; and

““(ii) with respect to an action that is based on
any conduct that is not described in clause (i),
if that covered person engages in that conduct
with actual knowledge of the facts and cir-
cumstances that make the conduct of that cov-
ered person a violation of the securities laws;

“(B) reckless conduct by a covered person
shall not be construed to constitute a knowing
commission of a violation of the securities laws
by that covered person;

““(C) the term ‘covered person’ means—

‘(i) a defendant in any private action arising
under this title; or

“(ii) a defendant in any private action arising
under section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933,
who is an outside director of the issuer of the se-
curities that are the subject of the action; and

‘(D) the term ‘outside director’ shall have the
meaning given such term by rule or regulation
of the Commission.””.

(b) AMENDMENTS TO THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933.—Section 11(f) of the Securities Act of 1933
(12 U.S.C. 77k(f)) is amended—

(1) by striking ““All’’ and inserting ‘(1) Except
as provided in paragraph (2), all’’; and

(2) by adding at the end the following new
paragraph:

“(2)(A) The liability of an outside director
under subsection (e) shall be determined in ac-
cordance with section 38 of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934.

““(B) For purposes of this paragraph, the term
‘outside director’ shall have the meaning given
such term by rule or regulation of the Commis-
sion ..

SEC. 202. APPLICABILITY.

The amendments made by this title shall not
affect or apply to any private action arising
under the securities laws commenced before and
pending on the date of enactment of this Act.
SEC. 203. RULE OF CONSTRUCTION.

Nothing in this Act or the amendments made
by this Act shall be dee